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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF WEST VIRGINIA 

BECKLEY DIVISION 

 

BENJAMIN LEIBELSON,    ) 

       ) 

  Plaintiff,    ) 

) 

v.       ) Case No: _____________________ 

       )  

       ) 

CHARLES E. SAMUELS, JR., individually  ) 

and as Director, Federal Bureau Of Prisons,  ) 

320 First St., NW,      ) 

Washington, D.C. 20534    ) 

       ) COMPLAINT 

LOUIS C. EICHENLAUB, individually and as ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

Deputy Director, Federal Bureau of Prisons,  ) 

320 First St., NW,      ) 

Washington, D.C. 20534    ) 

       ) 

JOHN F. CARAWAY, individually and as  ) 

Regional Director, Mid-Atlantic Region  ) 

Federal Bureau of Prisons,    ) 

320 First St., NW,      ) 

Washington, D.C. 20534    ) 

       )  

MARK COLLINS, individually and as  ) 

Warden, FCI Beckley, WestVirginia    )  

1600 Industrial Road,     ) 

Beaver, WV 25813;     ) 

       ) 

JOEL ZIEGLER, individually and as  ) 

Warden, FCI Beckley, WestVirginia    )  

1600 Industrial Road,     ) 

Beaver, WV 25813;     ) 

       ) 

BART MASTERS, individually and as  ) 

Warden, FCI McDowell, WV    )  

101 Federal Drive,     ) 

Welch, WV 24801;     ) 

       ) 

EDWIN K. CAULEY, individually and as  ) 
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Warden, FCI McDowell, WV     )  

101 Federal Drive,     ) 

Welch, WV 24801;     ) 

       ) 

Capt. DOUGLAS MEYER, individually and as  ) 

Captain, FCI Beckley, WV     ) 

1600 Industrial Road,     ) 

Beaver, WV 25813;     ) 

       ) 

AnneElizabeth W. CARD, Ph.D., individually )  

and as Chief Psychologist at FCI Beckley WV  )  

1600 Industrial Road,     ) 

Beaver, WV 25813;     ) 

       ) 

Unit Mgr. F.C.O. BULLOCK, individually and ) 

as a Federal Corrections Officer, FCI Beckley, WV  )  

1600 Industrial Road,     ) 

Beaver, WV 25813;     ) 

       ) 

CHRISTOPHER COOK, individually and as a ) 

Federal Corrections Officer, FCI Beckley, WV  )  

1600 Industrial Road,     ) 

Beaver, WV 25813;     ) 

       ) 

F.C.O. J. MCMILLION, individually and as a ) 

Federal Corrections Officer, FCI Beckley, WV  )  

1600 Industrial Road,     ) 

Beaver, WV 25813;     ) 

       ) 

Lt. DONALD FELTS, individually and as a ) 

Federal Corrections Officer, FCI Beckley, WV  )  

1600 Industrial Road,     ) 

Beaver, WV 25813;     ) 

       ) 

Chapel Ofc. J. VANCE, individually and as ) 

a Federal Corrections Officer, FCI Beckley, WV  )  

1600 Industrial Road,     ) 

Beaver, WV 25813;     ) 

       ) 

JEREMY JAMES, individually and as a  ) 

Federal Corrections Officer, FCI Beckley, WV  )  

1600 Industrial Road,     ) 

Beaver, WV 25813;     ) 
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       ) 

F.C.O. TAYLOR, individually and as a  ) 

Federal Corrections Officer, FCI Beckley, WV  )  

1600 Industrial Road,     ) 

Beaver, WV 25813;     ) 

       ) 

JOHN DOES 1-3, individually and as   ) 

Federal Corrections Officers, FCI Beckley, WV  )  

1600 Industrial Road,     ) 

Beaver, WV 25813;     ) 

       ) 

JOHN ROES 1-3, individually and as  ) 

Federal Corrections Administrative, Director or ) 

Management Personnel, FCI Beckley, WV  ) 

1600 Industrial Road,     ) 

Beaver, WV 25813,     ) 

       ) 

JANE DOES 1-3, individually and as   ) 

Federal Corrections Officers, FCI Beckley, WV  )  

1600 Industrial Road,     ) 

Beaver, WV 25813;     ) 

       ) 

JANE ROES 1-3, individually and as  ) 

Federal Corrections Administrative, Director or ) 

Management Personnel, FCI Beckley, WV  ) 

1600 Industrial Road,     ) 

Beaver, WV 25813,     ) 

       ) 

Defendants.    ) 

__________________________________________) 

NOW COMES Plaintiff BENJAMIN LEIBELSON (“Leibelson”), who brings this 

action, by and through his undersigned attorneys, seeking damages for deprivation of his 

constitutional rights and violations of his rights under federal civil rights statutes and common 

law, and alleges as follows: 

Introductory Statement of the Case 

1. Plaintiff Leibelson is a resident of the State of Maryland and is sui generis. Although 

born male, Leibelson is transgender and self-identifies as female.  Plaintiff goes by the name 
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“Paris” in everyday life.  

2. Leibelson has undergone hormone therapy and other treatments prior to and at all times 

relevant to the matters at issue herein. At all times relevant in this action, Leibelson has 

consistently self-identified and is in fact a member of the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transsexual 

and Intersex (“LGBTII”) community.  It is a minority and oft-ostracized class. 

3. Beginning in or about November 22, 2013, Leibelson was confined in the all-male FCI 

Beckley, 1600 Industrial Road, Beaver, West Virginia.  Leibelson was incarcerated at FCI 

Beckley following a violation of probation stemming from his original arrest and conviction for 

purse snatching in 2004-05.  

4. This saga began when Leibelson was originally convicted in the District of Columbia for 

purse snatching.  Accordingly, his relatively minor street crime occasioned incarceration in the 

Federal Prison System. 

5. Leibelson suffered previously sexual assault and rape during his pretrial detention at all-

male FPC Allenwood in 2007. There, Plaintiff was “owned” by a prisoner as sexual “property” 

and encountered recurring problems with sexual assault and victimization by fellow inmates 

because of Plaintiff’s transgender status, which provoked Plaintiff to file grievances.  Most were 

callously ignored, a fact corroborated in Plaintiff’s SENTRY database. 

6. Despite the fact that it was subjectively known by the Bureau of Prisons (“BOP”) and the 

Defendants that Leibelson was subjectively at risk to be the victim of sexual abuse. Beginning in 

or about February 2014, during his incarceration at all-male FCI Beckley, Plaintiff Leibelson 

was subjected by Defendants to continuing stress, anxiety, ongoing harassment, emotional 

trauma, physical harm, discrimination, assault, battery and sexual assault because of Plaintiff’s 
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transgender status. 

7. The sexual assaults and physical battery of Plaintiff are per se actionable violations of 8th 

Amendment. The acts, policies, practices and omissions of the Defendants and their employees 

that injured Plaintiff were knowing, deliberate, intentional, sadistic and motivated in whole or in 

substantial part because of Plaintiff’s transgender status and gender identification. Defendants 

subjectively knew of the high risk of serious mental and physical harm to Plaintiff that would be 

created by their actions and omissions in an all-male correctional facility.   

8.  It is common knowledge within the correctional community generally, at least since the 

enactment of the Prison Rape Elimination Act (“PREA”) and surveys conducted under the Act, 

that transgender inmates at all-male facilities confront an alarming risk of sexual assault, rape, 

and discrimination.  Defendants knew Plaintiff had been the victim of prior sexual abuse because 

of Plaintiff’s transgender status during Plaintiff’s incarceration at FCI Allenwood.  In other 

words, Defendants possessed actual knowledge of the elevated risk or sexual abuse, harassment, 

or rape Plaintiff confronted at all-male FCI Beckley because of Plaintiff’s transgender status.   

Despite this knowledge, and the clear requirements of, inter alia, Defendants’ Policies and 

Protocols prescribed by the Department of Justice, the United States Constitution, and PREA, 

Defendants were deliberately indifferent to the urgency of both adopting and complying with 

protocols to protect transgender inmates at all-male FCI Beckley from sexual abuse, rape, or 

discrimination, including proper and adequate training to reasonably diminish the risks of rape or 

sexual assault or discrimination by prison guards or inmates in violation of the Fifth and Eighth 

Amendments, federal civil rights statutes, and the common law.   

8. Plaintiff also brings this action to redress the injuries caused by the denial of due process, 
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equal protection, violations of federal civil rights statutes, including discrimination based upon 

his transgender status and self-identification as a female. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

 

9. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331; 

28 U.S.C. § 1343(a)(3); 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a) (4); and, 28 U.S.C. § 1367. Plaintiff’s claims arise 

under the United States Constitution, 42 U.S.C. 1985(3), and under West Virginia law.  

Supplemental jurisdiction exists over Plaintiff's West Virginia law claim because it falls within 

the Article III jurisdiction of federal courts pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

10. This Court possesses personal jurisdiction over Defendants because their constitutional 

wrongdoing occurred in this district and Defendants reside or work in this district. 

11. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) (2) because the acts or 

omissions giving rise to this action occurred within the geographic boundaries of this judicial 

district.  

Parties 

12. Plaintiff is a transgender citizen of the United States, age 34.  Plaintiff identifies 

mentally, emotionally and physically as female. Plaintiff is a resident of Montgomery County, 

Maryland.  From in or about February, 2014, until on or about March 28, 2014, Plaintiff was 

incarcerated at FCI Beckley, 1600 Industrial Road, Beaver, WV 25813, within the custody and 

control of the Defendants and their employees, save for Defendants BART MASTERS 

(“MASTERS”) and EDWIN K. CAULEY (“CAULEY”). From on or about March 28, 2014, 

following Plaintiff’s transfer to FCI McDowell, 101 Federal Drive, Welch, WV 24801, until his 

release from incarceration into a half-way house on June 4, 2014, Leibelson was incarcerated in 
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the custody and control of Defendants MASTERS and CAULEY and their employees. Leibelson 

was released from custody on August 29, 2014, without further hold, probation, parole or other 

entanglements, having served his sentence to completion. 

13. Defendant CHARLES E. SAMUELS, JR. (“SAMUELS”) is the Director of the Federal 

Bureau of Prisons, at 320 First St., NW, Washington, D.C. 20534.  Samuels had ultimate 

responsibility within the BOP for oversight of the operations of the federal correctional system at 

all times relevant to this action, including responsibility for ensuring that BOP officers and 

administrators are adequately trained and supervised to honor the United States Constitution, 

federal and state law. 

14. Defendant LOUIS C. EICHENLAUB, (“EICHENLAUB”) is the Deputy Director of the 

BOP, at 320 First St., NW, Washington, D.C. 20534 and had responsibility within the BOP for 

oversight of the operations of the federal system at all times relevant to this action, including 

responsibility for ensuring that BOP officers and administrators are adequately trained and 

supervised to honor the United States Constitution, federal and state law. 

15. JOHN F. CARAWAY (“CARAWAY”) is the Mid-Atlantic Regional Director of the 

BOP, at 320 First St., NW, Washington, D.C. 20534 and had responsibility within the Bureau of 

Prisons (“BOP”) for regional oversight of the operations of the federal system at all times 

relevant to this action, including responsibility for ensuring that BOP officers and administrators 

are adequately trained and supervised to honor the United States Constitution, federal and state 

law. 

16. Defendant MARK COLLINS (“COLLINS”) was at all times relevant hereto the Warden 

at FCI Beckley, WestVirginia, at 1600 Industrial Road, Beaver, WV 25813 and was responsible 
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for the daily operations of FCI Beckley, including the training and supervising of officials and 

employees to honor constitutional, statutory, and common law rights of inmates. 

17. Defendant JOEL ZIEGLER (“ZIEGLER”) was at all times relevant hereto the Warden 

at FCI Beckley, WestVirginia, at 1600 Industrial Road, Beaver, WV 25813 and was responsible 

for the daily operations of FCI Beckley, including the training and supervising of officials and 

employees to honor constitutional, statutory, and common law rights of inmates. 

18. Defendant BART MASTERS (“MASTERS”) was at all times relevant hereto the 

Warden at FCI McDowell, WestVirginia, at 101 Federal Drive, Welch, WV 24801 and was 

responsible for the daily operations of FCI McDowell, including the training and supervising of 

officers and employees to honor the constitutional, statutory, and common law rights of inmates. 

19. Defendant ED CAULEY (“CAULEY”) was at all times relevant hereto the Warden at 

FCI McDowell, WestVirginia, at 101 Federal Drive, Welch, WV 24801 and was responsible for 

the daily operations of FCI McDowell, including the training and supervising of officers and 

employees to honor the constitutional, statutory, and common law rights of inmates. 

20. Defendant Capt. DOUGLAS MEYER (“Capt. MEYER”) was at all times relevant 

hereto the Captain at FCI Beckley, WestVirginia, at 1600 Industrial Road, Beaver, WV 25813. 

21. Defendant Dr. ANNELIZABETH CARD (“Dr. CARD”) was at all times relevant 

hereto the PREA Compliance Manager and Chief Psychologist at FCI Beckley, WestVirginia, at 

1600 Industrial Road, Beaver, WV 25813. 

22. Defendant F.C.O. Unit Mgr. BULLOCK (“BULLOCK”) was at all times relevant 

hereto a Unit Manager and a Federal Corrections Officer (“FCO”) at FCI Beckley, WestVirginia, 

at 1600 Industrial Road, Beaver, WV 25813. 
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23. Defendant CHRISTOPHER COOK (“COOK”) was at all times relevant hereto a FCO 

at FCI Beckley, WestVirginia, at 1600 Industrial Road, Beaver, WV 25813. 

24. Defendant F.C.O. J. MCMILLION (“McMILLION”) was at all times relevant hereto a 

FCO at FCI Beckley, WestVirginia, at 1600 Industrial Road, Beaver, WV 25813. 

25. Defendant Lt. DONALD FELTS (“Lt. FELTS) was at all times relevant hereto a FCO at 

FCI Beckley, WestVirginia, at 1600 Industrial Road, Beaver, WV 25813. 

26. Defendant Chapel Ofc. J. VANCE (“Chapel Ofc. VANCE”) was at all times relevant 

hereto at FCO at FCI Beckley, WestVirginia, at 1600 Industrial Road, Beaver, WV 25813. 

27. Defendant JEREMY JAMES (“JAMES”) was at all times relevant hereto a FCO at FCI 

Beckley, WestVirginia, at 1600 Industrial Road, Beaver, WV 25813. 

28. Defendant FCO TAYLOR (“TAYLOR”) was at all times relevant hereto a FCO at FCI 

Beckley, WestVirginia, at 1600 Industrial Road, Beaver, WV 25813. 

29. Defendants JOHN DOES 1-3 and JANE DOES 1-3 are or were, at all times relevant to 

this Complaint, employed as FCOs at FCI Beckley, WestVirginia, at 1600 Industrial Road, 

Beaver, WV 25813. As discovery progresses and more information is learned regarding the 

identities of these “John Doe” and “Jane Doe” Defendants, Plaintiff reserves the right to amend 

this Complaint by interlineations with the names and identities of these Defendants as required. 

30. Defendants JOHN ROES 1-3 and JANE ROES 1-3 are or were, at all times relevant to 

this Complaint, employed as administrative and supervisory personnel at FCO at FCI Beckley, 

WestVirginia, at 1600 Industrial Road, Beaver, WV 25813.As discovery progresses and more 

information is learned regarding the identities of these “John Roe” and “Jane Roe” Defendants, 

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend this Complaint by interlineations with the names and 
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identities of these Defendants as required. 

Statement of Facts 

31. The Prison Rape Elimination Act of 2003 (“PREA”) established the requirement for Zero 

Tolerance for acts of Sexual Abuse or Harassment in confinement facilities. 42 U.S.C. §15601, 

et seq.  PREA acknowledges the obvious: rape or sexual abuse is an omnipresent threat in 

prisons—especially towards transgender inmates--of which correctional personnel know and 

need to prevent through prophylactic safeguards. 

32. Additionally, The U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”) and the BOP Program Standards 

No: 5324.11, adopted January 06, 2014, entitled: “Sexually Abusive Behavior Prevention and 

Intervention Program”, the stated Purpose and Scope of which, at Section 1 is: “[t]o provide a 

written policy that implements zero tolerance toward all forms of sexual activity, including 

sexual abuse and sexual harassment, and to provide guidelines to address the following 

prohibited and/or illegal sexually abusive behavior involving: …. Staff perpetrator against 

inmate victim.”  

33. Members of the correctional community know of the high risk of sexual assault on 

transgender inmates by prison guards or fellow inmates, and of the need to establish preventive 

training and supervision or related prophylactic protocols accordingly. 

34. According to the American Civil Liberties Union, transgender inmates are regularly 

targeted for sexual violence because they are housed in facilities that do not correspond to their 

gender, observing that:  “[T]hey are either placed in the general population where they are targets 

for abuse by other prisoners or kept in solitary confinement ostensibly for their own protection 

but where they become frequent targets of abuse by staff.” 
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35. In July 2015, the National Inmate Survey administered by the Bureau of Justice Statistics 

in the United States Department of Justice found that thirty-five percent (35%) of transgender 

inmates held in prison and thirty-four percent (34%) held in jails have experienced one or more 

incidents of sexual assault by detention facility personnel or other inmates in a one year period. 

36. The Survey collected the information directly from inmates and has been presented as an 

official Department of Justice report prepared pursuant to PREA dictates. 

37. The Survey was compiled using data collected anonymously from the nation’s inmates 

from 2007-2012.  More than 92,000 adult inmates participated.  Of those, 232 inmates identified 

as transgender—101 in state and federal prisons and 129 in jails. 

38. The Survey also found that transgender inmates reported high levels of staff sexual 

misconduct in prisons (17%) and jails (23%); that approximately 25% reported an incident 

involving another inmate; that 74% described the incidents as involving oral, anal, vaginal 

penetration, manual masturbation, or other nonconsensual sexual acts; and, more than 40% 

asserted they were physically injured by the staff perpetrator. 

39. A 2009 study of sexual assault in California state prisons found that transgender inmates 

are 13 times more likely to be sexually assaulted than other prisoners. 

40.  Further, DOJ/BOP Program Standard No: 5324.11 specifically contemplates the sexual 

abuse and harassment risks involved with housing LGBTII inmates, at, inter alia, §115.42. : 

Additionally, the Department of Justice has most recently argued its official position to the 

United States Supreme Court in Obergefell v .Hodges that classifications based upon sexual 

orientation are subject to heightened constitutional scrutiny under the Equal Protection Clause. 

41. Notwithstanding the acknowledged need for protection of LGBTII inmates against sexual 
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predation, abuse, harassment or discrimination by BOP staff and other inmates, Defendants 

failed to comply or supervise compliance with existing policies, procedures, protocols or 

programs and failed to create meaningful additional protections for LGBTII incarcerated persons 

to carry out the Zero Tolerance Goal of PREA, DOJ/BOP Program Standard No: 5324.11 and 

constitutional, civil rights and common law mandates.  

42. On or about February 6, 2014, Defendant McMILLION ridiculed Plaintiff and his co-

prisoner, J. Buell, who were then incarcerated at FCI Beckley, with the invective “goddamned 

faggots.”  The humiliating disparagement was indicative of the hostile prison environment and 

actionable discrimination and class-based animus Defendants displayed towards members of 

Plaintiff’s transgender class.  On that same date, Plaintiff was further subjected to Defendants’ 

punishment, discrimination and LGBTII-based animus by order to the Special Housing Unit 

(“SHU”), a/k/a “solitary” or “the hole.” Plaintiff filed a grievance regarding this discriminatory 

and abusive treatment, ID/Case No: 775205-F1. This Grievance Report was ignored and upon 

information and belief was destroyed by or at the direction or behest of Defendants Capt. 

MEYER, COLLINS and/or ZIEGLER at FCI Beckley because of Plaintiff’s transgender status.  

That discriminatory nonfeasance required Plaintiff to refile same grievance at FCI McDowell on 

or about April 1, 2014.  There, it was also ignored without further action or meaningful 

investigation because of Plaintiff’s transgender status and self-identification as a woman.  These 

actions or omissions were motivated because of Plaintiff’s transgender status and self-

identification as a woman.  They violated, inter alia, DOJ/BOP Program Standard No: 5324.11 

and Plaintiff’s constitutional, statutory, and common law rights. 

43. On or about the same day, February 6, 2014, at approximately 4:30 p.m., upon entry into 
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the SHU, Plaintiff was subjected to an unlawful strip search by Defendant COOK. Upon 

information and belief, Defendant COOK was not authorized to perform strip searches or body 

cavity searches.  The strip search was conducted substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s 

transgender status and self-identification as a woman. 

44. Upon entry into the SHU area, Defendant COOK commanded Plaintiff to disrobe and 

“turn around and stand against the gate” of the cage area that separated the two. Defendant 

COOK then told Leibelson to “bend over.” Plaintiff did so. Defendant COOK then commanded 

Plaintiff to “open that hole wide”, whereupon Defendant COOK forcibly and without 

Leibelson’s consent or foreknowledge rammed his finger into Plaintiff’s anus thereby sexually 

assaulting and digitally anally raping Plaintiff.  The purpose was to humiliate and degrade 

Plaintiff, and to satisfy Defendant COOK’s craven lust and sexual gratification.  The rape and 

sexual assault violated, inter alia, W.V. Code §61-8B-4, §61-8B-10 and 18 U.S.C. §2241. 

Plaintiff filed a grievance regarding this sexual assault and transgender-based discriminatory and 

abusive behavior, ID/Case No: 770924-R1, with numerous notations of “SENSITIVE” 

“EMERGENCY” and “SEXUAL ASSAULT/ABUSE”.  Grievance Report No: 770924-R1 was 

ignored by Defendants and upon information and belief was destroyed by or at the direction or 

behest of Defendants Capt. MEYER, COLLINS and/or ZIEGLER at FCI Beckley substantially 

or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status.  Plaintiff was forced to refile the same 

grievance at FCI McDowell on or about April 1, 2014, whereby the grievance was also ignored 

by Defendants without further action or meaningful investigation substantially or solely because 

of Plaintiff’s transgender status. These transgender motivated actions or omissions violated, inter 

alia, DOJ/BOP Program Standard No: 5324.11 and Plaintiff’s constitutional, statutory and 
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common law rights. 

45. Thereafter, Defendants’ conspired with intent to injure Plaintiff’s person and emotional 

and psychological well-being through an objectively malicious program of harassment of 

Plaintiff.  The conspiracy included a cover-up of the aforementioned sexual assault and rape of 

Plaintiff.  It continued, on or about February 7, 2014, when Defendant COOK, Plaintiff’s rapist 

and sexual assailant, taunted and tortured Plaintiff by asking him “why are you back in the 

SHU?” Plaintiff responded that maybe the punishment was for interfering with the count. 

Defendant COOK maliciously and thunderously retorted: “No, you’re here because you are a 

fucking faggot who likes to suck dick!” Plaintiff filed a grievance regarding this discriminatory 

and abusive behavior, ID/Case No: 775668-F1. Grievance Report No: 775668-F1 was ignored 

and upon information and belief was destroyed by or at the direction or behest of Defendants 

Capt. MEYER, COLLINS and/or ZIEGLER at FCI Beckley substantially or solely because of 

Plaintiff’s transgender status. Plaintiff was required to refile the same grievance at FCI 

McDowell on or about April 1, 2014.  There, it was also ignored without further action or 

meaningful investigation substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status.  These 

actions or omissions of Defendants were motivated because of animosity towards Plaintiff’s 

transgender status and self-identification as a woman.  They violated, inter alia, DOJ/BOP 

Program Standard No: 5324.11 and Plaintiff’s constitutional, statutory and common law rights. 

46. Defendants further sadistically tortured and taunted Plaintiff by refusing to provide him 

cleaning supplies, a razor and other personal hygiene items on or about February 9, 2014 

substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status.  Defendants supplied such items 

on that date to each and every other inmate in the SHU. Defendant COOK took sadistic glee in 
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purposefully and pointedly singling out Plaintiff for gratuitous discriminatory punishment or 

discipline in furtherance of Defendants’ conspiracy to harm Plaintiff’s person and emotional and 

psychological well-being. Plaintiff filed a grievance regarding this discriminatory and abusive 

behavior, ID/Case No: 775668-F1.  This Grievance Report was ignored and upon information 

and belief was destroyed by or at the direction or behest of Defendants Capt. MEYER, 

COLLINS and/or ZIEGLER at FCI Beckley substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s 

transgender status. Plaintiff was required to refile the grievance at FCI McDowell on or about 

April 1, 2014.  There, it was also ignored without further action or meaningful investigation 

substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status. These actions and omissions 

were motivated because of Plaintiff’s transgender status and self-identification as a woman and 

violated, inter alia, DOJ/BOP Program Standard No: 5324.11 and Plaintiff’s constitutional, 

statutory and common law rights. 

47. On or about February 14, 2014, Plaintiff was released from the SHU and returned to the 

ordinary housing Unit.  Plaintiff discovered that Plaintiff had been reassigned away from his 

prior roommate, Jonathan Buell, who had provided him security and safety.  The two were so 

close that they had executed reciprocal medical and personal Powers of Attorney in the case of 

emergency or incapacity.  The predictable and intended consequence of the reassignment was to 

generate in Plaintiff acute and constant fear of sexual assault from other non-transgender 

inmates.  The discriminatory reassignment was motivated by Plaintiff’s transgender status.  The 

reciprocal Powers of Attorney were presented by Plaintiff and Buell to Defendant Unit Mgr. 

BULLOCK as proof that the two sharing a cell raised no danger to either.  But Defendant 

BULLOCK, upon information and belief, destroyed the Powers of Attorney to enable concoction 
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of the narrative that Plaintiff’s reassignment was for Plaintiff’s own safety, when the opposite 

was true.  These actions or omissions were motivated because of Plaintiff’s transgender status 

and self-identification as a woman. They violated, inter alia, DOJ/BOP Program Standard No: 

5324.11 and Plaintiff’s constitutional, statutory and common law rights.  

48. Beginning February 2014, and continuing for the pendency of his incarceration at FCI 

Beckley, Leibelson was chronically starved and deprived of food because of the unavailability of 

adequate seating that was not controlled by prison gangs who demanded sexual favors in return 

for “permitting” Plaintiff to take his food in the FCI Beckley mess hall dining area. Plaintiff was 

required to either smuggle food out of the dining area or depend upon others to bring him food, 

both of which are against FCI Beckley rules. As a result, Plaintiff often went for days without 

nourishment and his health and physical and mental well-being suffered from being chronically 

starved when confronted with the choice between avoiding being used as an object of sexual 

gratification by fellow inmates or not eating.  Plaintiff made Defendants aware of this state of 

affairs and his complaints were ignored because of the conspiracy to retaliate against Plaintiff for 

his reported sexual assaults, rape, sexual abuse, sexual discrimination and sexual harassment at 

the hands of Defendants and because of Defendants’ discrimination and animus based 

substantially or solely upon of Plaintiff’s transgender status and self-identification as a woman. 

49. Additionally, Plaintiff was during this time period and throughout most of the pendency 

of his incarceration at FCI Beckley, Defendants constantly denied access to a counselor and to 

BP-8 and BP-9 forms and other Prison Litigation Reform Act (“PRLA”), 42 U.S.C. §1997e, 

forms and documents to register grievances and complaints relating to his disparate and sadistic 

treatment at the hands of Defendants.  The motivation for the denials was Plaintiff’s transgender 
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status and effeminate appearance, mannerisms and outlook. Additionally, Plaintiff was 

prohibited from attending bible study and religious worship at the Chapel the evening of 

February 14, 2014, professedly because he did not have his inmate ID. Other non-LGBTII 

inmates were consistently and routinely allowed to worship and pursue their religious beliefs and 

observances without their inmate ID’s.  Plaintiff’s prohibition because of Plaintiff’s transgender 

status violated the Religious Freedom Restoration Act, 42 U.S.C. §2000bb-1(c), and the Free 

Exercise Clause of the First Amendment. 

50. On or about February 21, 2014, Defendant McMILLION commented loudly to 

Defendant TAYLOR and in the presence of other Federal Corrections Officers in reference to 

Plaintiff that “we need to get that punk out of here.” The malevolence evidenced a continuing 

conspiracy to harm Plaintiff and to violate Plaintiff’s constitutional, statutory, and common law 

rights because of Plaintiff’s transgender status.  Later that same evening, Defendant TAYLOR 

gave Plaintiff permission to retrieve a pair of headphones from his former roommate’s cell and 

then wrote Plaintiff up in an Incident Report and told him to report to the Lieutenant’s Office for 

discipline. When asked “why the discipline?” Defendant TAYLOR responded that it was 

because Plaintiff was “gay.” Plaintiff filed a grievance regarding this discriminatory and abusive 

behavior, ID/Case No: 775670-F1.  Grievance Report No: 775670-F1 was ignored and upon 

information and belief was destroyed by or at the direction or behest of Defendants Capt. 

MEYER, COLLINS and/or ZIEGLER at FCI Beckley substantially or solely because of 

Plaintiff’s transgender status. Plaintiff was required to refile the grievance at FCI McDowell on 

or about April 1, 2014.  There, it was also ignored without further action or meaningful 

investigation substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status.  These actions or 
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omissions were motivated because of Plaintiff’s transgender status and self-identification as a 

woman.  They violated, inter alia, DOJ/BOP Program Standard No: 5324.11 and Plaintiff’s 

constitutional, statutory and common law rights. Later that evening, on or about February 21, 

2014,when Plaintiff reported to the office of Defendant Lt. FELTS pursuant to the Incident 

Report of Defendant TAYLOR disciplining Leibelson for the stated reason of “being gay”, 

Defendant Lt. FELTS, in furtherance of the Defendants’  conspiracy to violate Plaintiff’s legal 

rights, shouted, threatened, insulted and demeaned Leibelson by calling him “punk”, “ homo”, 

“queer” and threatening to send Plaintiff to the United States Penitentiary (“USP”), telling him, 

“You won’t make it 3 days before the ‘blacks’ are tearing your asshole apart”. Plaintiff filed a 

grievance regarding this discriminatory and abusive behavior, ID/Case No: 775673-F1, which 

was motivated substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status.  Plaintiff’s 

Grievance Report No: 775673-F1 was ignored and upon information and belief was destroyed by 

or at the direction or behest of Defendants Capt. MEYER, COLLINS and/or ZIEGLER at FCI 

Beckley substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status. Plaintiff was required to 

refile the grievance at FCI McDowell on or about April 1, 2014. There, Grievance Report No: 

775673-F1 was also ignored without further action or meaningful investigation substantially or 

solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status.   These actions or omissions were motivated 

because of Plaintiff’s transgender status and self-identification as a woman.  They violated, inter 

alia, DOJ/BOP Program Standard No: 5324.11 and Plaintiff’s constitutional, statutory and 

common law rights. 

51. On or about February 28, Plaintiff attempted to exercise his religious worship rights and 

freedoms when he attended and participated in Christian Bible Study at Chapel with visiting 
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internationally noted Christian lecturer Justin Peters.  He had came to minister at FCI Beckley 

for the spiritual and religious well-being of all inmates. Defendant Chapel Ofc. VANCE 

removed Plaintiff from the Bible Study and lecture and demanded to see Leibelson in his office 

immediately. Defendant Chapel Of. VANCE shouted at Plaintiff that: “This is not a gay church 

and you (Leibelson) won’t come in here while I’m (Defendant Chapel Ofc. VANCE) working, 

now get the fuck out of here!” Plaintiff was thereafter evicted and expelled from Chapel to 

prevent Plaintiff’s exercise of religious freedom in violation of the Free Exercise Clause of the 

First Amendment and the Religious Freedom Restoration Act 42 U.S.C. §2000bb-1 (c) 

substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status. Plaintiff filed a grievance 

regarding this discriminatory and unlawful behavior, ID/Case No: 775676-R1. Grievance Report 

No: 775676-R1 was ignored and upon information and belief was destroyed by or at the 

direction or behest of Defendants Capt. MEYER, COLLINS and/or ZIEGLER at FCI Beckley 

substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status. Plaintiff was required to refile the 

grievance at FCI McDowell on or about April 1, 2014.  There, it was also ignored without further 

action or meaningful investigation substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender 

status.  These actions or omissions violated, inter alia, DOJ/BOP Program Standard No: 5324.11 

and Plaintiff’s constitutional, statutory and common law rights. 

52. On March 11, 2014, after learning that BOP officials from Washington D.C. would be 

present at FCI Beckley, Plaintiff attempted to meet them.  They were under the direct 

supervision and responsibility of Defendants SAMUELS, EICHENLAUB and CARAWAY. 

Defendants, however, prohibited Plaintiff from meeting with the BOP officials and refused to 

permit him to directly report his serious grievances regarding sexual assaults, rape, sexual abuse, 
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sexual discrimination and sexual harassment substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s 

transgender status.  Thereafter, Leibelson nonetheless reported these matters to Defendant Dr. 

CARD, the Chief Psychologist at FCI Beckley.   Defendants, including Dr. CARD, nonetheless 

continually blocked any and all efforts by Plaintiff to report the sexual assaults, rape, sexual 

abuse, sexual discrimination and sexual harassment he had suffered and continued to suffer at the 

hands of Defendants to BOP officials from Washington, D.C. or elsewhere. Plaintiff, 

immediately following his meeting with Defendant Dr. CARD, was again sent to the SHU for 

approximately two (2) weeks in retaliation for Plaintiff’s efforts to seek redress of grievances by 

reporting Defendants’ unlawful and discriminatory treatment to outsiders.  These actions or 

omissions were motivated because of Plaintiff’s transgender status and self-identification as a 

woman.  They violated, inter alia, DOJ/BOP Program Standard No: 5324.11 and Plaintiff’s 

constitutional, statutory and common law rights. 

53.  On March 11, 2014, later that day, Plaintiff Leibelson was strip searched at the SHU, and 

Defendant McMILLION repeatedly called Plaintiff a “faggot” over ten (10) times and spat upon 

Leibelson’s nude person. This act of battery and sexual abuse and harassment was substantially 

or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status. Plaintiff filed a grievance regarding this 

discriminatory and unlawful behavior, ID/Case No: 775680-R1, based substantially or solely 

because of Plaintiff’s transgender status.  It was ignored and upon information and belief was 

destroyed by or at the direction or behest of Defendants Capt. MEYER, COLLINS and/or 

ZIEGLER at FCI Beckley substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status. 

Plaintiff was required to refile the grievance at FCI McDowell on or about April 1, 2014.  There, 

it was also ignored without further action or meaningful investigation substantially or solely 
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because of Plaintiff’s transgender status.  These actions or omissions were motivated because of 

Plaintiff’s transgender status and self-identification as a woman.  They violated, inter alia, 

DOJ/BOP Program Standard No: 5324.11 and Plaintiff’s constitutional, statutory and common 

law rights. During his time in the SHU from on or about March 11, 2014, to on or about March 

22, 2014, Plaintiff was subjected to constant harassment and abuse substantially or solely 

because of Plaintiff’s transgender status from Defendant JAMES. Defendant JAMES repeatedly 

demeaned and harassed Plaintiff, including but not limited to, consistently telling Plaintiff’s SHU 

cell mate that Defendant JAMES was “going to find a skirt” and other women’s clothing items in 

which to dress Leibelson. More sinister, Defendant JAMES threatened “to put a piece of metal” 

in Leibelson’s cell if Leibelson went to recreation. This threat constituted actionable assault 

against Plaintiff because Defendant JAMES intended, and Plaintiff Leibelson understood, that “a 

piece of metal” meant a knife for Leibelson’s cell mate or some other inmate to stab and possibly 

kill Leibelson. Plaintiff was reasonably put in imminent fear of injury and mortal danger because 

of this threat that Defendant JAMES had the power and invidious motivation to execute.  

Plaintiff filed a grievance regarding this discriminatory and unlawful behavior, ID/Case No: 

775679-R1.  This Grievance Report was ignored and upon information and belief was destroyed 

by or at the direction or behest of Defendants Capt. MEYER, COLLINS and/or ZIEGLER at FCI 

Beckley substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status. Plaintiff was required to 

refile the grievance at FCI McDowell on or about April 1, 2014.  There, it was also ignored 

without further action or meaningful investigation substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s 

transgender status.  These actions or omission violated, inter alia, DOJ/BOP Program Standard 

No: 5324.11 and Plaintiff’s constitutional, statutory and common law rights. During his time in 
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the SHU from on or about March 11, 2014, to on or about March 22, 2014, Plaintiff was 

additionally subjected to constant harassment and abuse substantially or solely because of 

Plaintiff’s transgender status from Defendant Lt. FELTS, who commanded supervisory authority 

as regards other FCO’s at FCI Beckley, Defendant Lt. FELTS repeatedly demeaned and harassed 

Plaintiff, including but not limited to, repeatedly calling Plaintiff “faggot” and “queer.”  These 

derogatory statements were motivated substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender 

status.   They violated, inter alia, DOJ/BOP Program Standard No: 5324.11 and Plaintiff’s 

constitutional, statutory and common law rights.   

54. During Plaintiff’s time in the SHU, Defendant Lt. FELTS also further abused, harassed 

and discriminated Plaintiff on or about March 22, 2014, by calling Plaintiff “dicksucker”. 

Additionally, Defendant Lt. FELTS on that same day pointed a loaded shotgun at Plaintiff 

Leibelson’s genital/crotch area and said “I’m (Defendant Lt. FELTS) going to shoot you 

(Plaintiff Leibelson) in the pussy”.  Plaintiff was reasonably put in imminent fear of injury and 

mortal danger that would result from a shotgun blast to the genitals at close range. Plaintiff was 

reasonably and subjectively in fear for his life because Defendant Lt. FELTS had the power and 

invidious motivation to execute his threat to shoot Plaintiff with his loaded gun. Plaintiff filed a 

grievance regarding this discriminatory and unlawful behavior by Defendant Lt. FELTS, 

ID/Case No: 775686-R1.  It was ignored and upon information and belief was destroyed by or at 

the direction or behest of Defendants Capt. MEYER, COLLINS and/or ZIEGLER at FCI 

Beckley substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status. Plaintiff was required to 

refile the complaint at FCI McDowell on or about April 1, 2014.  There, it was also ignored 

without further action or meaningful investigation substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s 
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transgender status.  These actions or omissions violated, inter alia, DOJ/BOP Program Standard 

No: 5324.11 and Plaintiff’s constitutional, statutory and common law rights. 

54.  Plaintiff Leibelson was hastily transferred on March 28, 2014, from FCI Beckley to FCI 

McDowell as part of Defendants’ conspiracy to conceal from BOP personnel their wrongful acts 

and omissions towards Plaintiff because of Plaintiff’s transgender status. Upon information and 

belief this date coincided with the dates the BOP was to begin its statutorily mandated PREA 

Compliance survey at FCI Beckley. On or about the hasty transfer date, Plaintiff realized that 

although he had grievances compliant with PLRA/PREA grievance forms, Defendants and other 

FCI Beckley personnel had destroyed them. After the transfer, Plaintiff re-filed each 

PLRA/PREA grievance form with FCI McDowell personnel. Although FCI personnel responded 

to each of Plaintiff’s PLRA/PREA grievances in a timely manner, each response was pro forma 

only.  Nothing was investigated or done by Defendants MASTERS or CAULEY substantially or 

solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status.  

55.  Plaintiff was never consulted, counselled or informed as to the results of the 

DOJ’s/BOP’s alleged review of the PLRA/PREA grievances. These actions or omissions were 

motivated because of Plaintiff’s transgender status and self-identification as a woman.  They 

violated, inter alia, DOJ/BOP Program Standard No: 5324.11 and Plaintiff’s constitutional, 

statutory and common law rights. 

56. All conditions precedent to the filing of this action have been performed, have occurred 

or have been waived by Defendants. 

57. Leibelson has been required to obtain the services of the undersigned attorneys to 

prosecute this matter on his behalf and has agreed to pay them a reasonable fee for their services.  
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As such, Plaintiff is entitled to his reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees.  

58. Plaintiff Leibelson demands trial by jury of all causes of action set forth herein that are so 

amenable. 

Exhaustion 

59. Plaintiff Leibelson has exhausted all administrative remedies available to him and all 

conditions precedent to this action have been performed, have occurred or have been waived, 

pursuant to the Prison Litigation Reform Act, PLRA , 42 U.S.C. §1997e, et seq., and otherwise. 

COUNT I 

VIOLATION OF RIGHTS AGAINST CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT 

Eighth Amendment 

(Against All Defendants) 

 

60. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 

1-59 above as though fully set forth herein. 

61. Defendants had at least the following duties to Plaintiff based on their actual knowledge 

of inherent threats or dangers to transgender inmates: 

a. To see that measures were in place to reasonably ensure the health and safety 

from serious physical or mental injury of LGBTII and female gender-oriented 

inmates at the FCI Beckley and FCI McDowell, including the health and safety of 

Plaintiff Leibelson;  

b. To see that measures were in place to reasonably ensure that LGBTII and female 

gender-oriented inmates at the FCI Beckley and FCI McDowell, including the 

health and safety of Plaintiff Leibelson, were provided a level of care and security 

against abuse, sadistic threats, assault, battery, sexual assault and rape 

substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status that a civilized 

society would think minimal; 

Case 2:15-cv-11111   Document 12031   Filed 09/01/15   Page 24 of 36 PageID #: 170486



 

Page 25 of 36 

 

c. To comply with all constitutional, statutory and common law obligations to 

protect Leibelson’s physical, mental and emotional well-being from unlawful 

intrusion, damage or harm because of Plaintiff’s transgender and female gender-

oriented status, including compliance with, inter alia, PREA, 42 U.S.C. §15601, et 

seq., and its mandate of zero tolerance for sexual assaults, abuse or harassment at 

federal correctional facilities; 

d. To reasonably ensure that LGBTII and female gender oriented inmates at the FCI 

Beckley and FCI McDowell, such as Plaintiff Leibelson,, did not suffer injury 

caused by failure to administer such adequate compliance with constitutional, 

statutory and common law obligations because of Plaintiff’s transgender status; 

e. To act as a reasonable person would have under the circumstances to ensure that 

any LGBTII and female gender oriented inmate, such as Plaintiff Leibelson, was 

provided adequate protection from sexual assaults, abuse or harassment because 

of transgender status. 

 

62. Defendants breached these duties and were deliberately, subjectively and sadistically 

indifferent to the serious safety, security and health needs of Plaintiff Leibelson 

63. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ deliberate indifference and 

discriminatory treatment based on transgender status, Plaintiff Leibelson has suffered severe pain 

and suffering, irreparable bodily and mental injury, loss of consortium and resultant pecuniary 

damages.  

64. The damages suffered by Plaintiff, caused by Defendants’ deliberate indifference and 

transgender-based discrimination were manifestly foreseeable, particularly given that Defendants 

knew or should have known that Leibelson is a member of the LGBTII community and his 

identification and life as a female made him peculiarly susceptible to sexual harassment, abuse, 

rape and other physical violence in an all-male correctional facility.  Indeed, Plaintiff 
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continuously pled for Defendants to provide him protection against same because of Plaintiff’s 

transgender status, and Plaintiff had previously been subjected to sexual assault and abuse at a 

federal correctional facility. 

65. The conduct of Defendants constituted cruel and unusual punishment and was in 

violation of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the equal protection 

component of the Fifth Amendment.   

66. Defendants were jointly and severally deliberately indifferent to the serious physical, 

mental and emotional harm they caused Plaintiff.    

67. The conduct of Defendants was subjectively willful, reckless, wanton and intentional.  

68. The conduct of Defendants was the proximate cause of the injuries suffered by Plaintiff 

in an amount to be proved at trial. 

COUNT II  

VIOLATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL EQUAL PROTECTION RIGHTS –SEXUAL 

ORIENTATION 

42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) and U.S. Constitution 

(Against All Defendants) 

69. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 

1-68 above as though fully set forth herein. 

70. The conduct of Defendants COLLINS, ZIEGLER, MASTERS, CAULEY, COOK, 

McMILLION, Lt. FELTS, VANCE , JAMES, John Does 1-3 and John Roes violates federal law 

and the United States Constitution. 

71. The conduct of each of these Defendants, along with other employees of FCI Beckley 

and FCI McDowell violated Plaintiff’s rights under the equal protection component of the Fifth 

Amendment and Plaintiff’s federal civil rights under 42 U.S.C. 1985 (3). 
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72. Plaintiff suffered repeated discrimination at the hands of Defendants because of 

Plaintiff’s LGBTII status and his identification as a female in a male prison. 

73. The discrimination was manifested in part by the Defendants’ mistreatment, physical 

abuse and complete and willful disregard and deliberate indifference to Plaintiff’s physical, 

mental and emotional well-being.  

74.  Defendants’ conspiracy to deny Plaintiff’s equal protection rights violated 42 U.S.C. 

§1985(3). 

75. Plaintiff was injured and suffered damages as a direct and proximate result of 

Defendants’ conspiracy to mistreat, physically and sexually abuse, rape and cover-up or refuse to 

act upon Plaintiff’s complaints evincing a complete and willful subjective disregard and 

deliberate subjective indifference to Plaintiff’s serious physical, mental and emotional needs 

because of Plaintiff’s transgender status. 

76. The actions or omissions of Defendants was the proximate cause of the physical and 

mental or emotional injuries suffered by Plaintiff in an amount to be proved at trial. 

COUNT III  

VIOLATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL EQUAL PROTECTION RIGHTS –SEXUAL 

IDENTITY 

42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) and U.S. Constitution 

(Against All Defendants) 

77. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 

1-76 above as though fully set forth herein. 

78. The conduct of Defendants COLLINS, ZIEGLER, MASTERS, CAULEY, COOK, 

McMILLION, Lt. FELTS, VANCE, JAMES, John Does 1-3 and John Roes violated federal law 

and the equal protection component of the Fifth Amendment United States by discriminating 
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against Plaintiff because of Plaintiff’s female sexual identity in an all-male correctional 

institution. 

79.  Defendants’ conspiracy to deny of Plaintiff’s equal protection, manifested in part by 

mistreatment, physical abuse, and callous indifference towards Plaintiff’s physical, mental and 

emotional well-being because of Plaintiff’s self-identification as a female, detention also violated 

42 U.S.C. §1985(3). 

80. The acts of omissions of Defendants were the proximate cause of the injuries suffered by 

Plaintiff in an amount to be proved at trial. 

COUNT IV 

VIOLATION OF EIGHTH AMENDMENT AND EQUAL PROTECTION RIGHTS BY 

POLICY OR CUSTOM  

(Against All Defendants) 

81. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 

1- 80 above as though fully set forth herein. 

82. The conduct of Defendants SAMUELS, EICHENLAUB, CARAWAY, COLLINS, 

ZIEGLER, MASTERS and CAULEY (in their official and individual capacities), and the 

conduct of their agents, including but not limited to the remaining Defendants, was pursuant to 

Defendants’ policies, procedures, practices or customs of failing to specially hire for or provide 

specialized training or supervision to the FCI Beckley or FCI McDowell personnel and other 

employees of the BOP to avoid sexual harassment, discrimination, abuse, assault and rape to 

inmates that are members of the LGBTII community and, like Plaintiff, identify and live their 

lives as females.  Defendants’ acts or omissions in training, monitoring, supervision or otherwise 

occurred despite their subjective knowledge of the high risk created of maltreatment of inmates 
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because of their transgender status, and violated Plaintiff’s Eight Amendment and equal 

protection rights. The violations caused severe and irreversible personal, psychological and 

bodily injury to Plaintiff.  

83. The conduct of these Defendants and their agents was pursuant to their policies, 

procedures, practices or customs, pursuant to which the BOP personnel and other employees of 

the BOP maltreated, disregarded or otherwise invidiously discriminated against inmates that are 

LGBTII and specifically those incarcerated persons, such as Leibelson, that identify themselves 

as being female and live and appear as female despite being born male.  Defendants also 

endorsed such discriminatory treatment by failing to take remedial action despite subjectively 

knowing of the need, thereby making it a de facto policy of the BOP and these Defendants to 

permit discrimination against inmates because of their transgender status and self-identification 

as females.  Such policy, procedure, practice or custom deprived Leibelson of his due process, 

equal protection and Eighth Amendment rights. 

84. The conduct of these Defendants and their agents was pursuant to their policies, 

procedures, practices or customs of deliberate disregard, disdain or indifference to examine and 

maintain the requisite qualifications and quality of its FCO personnel, medical personnel and 

other employees employed at FCI Beckley and FCI McDowell.  As a result, Leibelson was 

deprived of his statutory due process, equal protection and Eighth Amendment rights.  

85. The conduct of these Defendants and their agents was pursuant to their policies, 

procedures, practices or customs of deliberate disregard, disdain or indifference to the proper 

staffing and management of FCI Beckley and/or FCI McDowell personnel and other employees 

employed by the BOP at those facilities, including but not limited to the lack of properly 

Case 2:15-cv-11111   Document 12031   Filed 09/01/15   Page 29 of 36 PageID #: 170491



 

Page 30 of 36 

 

certified, educated and trained supervisory, management or administrative personnel, including 

the lack of a properly trained warden or director of prison operations to properly handle and care 

for inmates that are LGBTII and specifically those incarcerated persons, such as Leibelson, that 

identify themselves as being female and live and appear as female despite being born male.    All 

of these policies and procedures deprived Plaintiff of his statutory, due process, equal protection 

and Eighth Amendment rights because Defendants subjectively knew their nonfeasance would 

create an unconstitutional risk of injuries to transgender inmates, including rape or sexual 

assault.  

86. The conduct of these Defendants and their agents was pursuant to BOP’s policies, 

procedures, practices or customs of deliberate disregard, disdain or indifference to the proper 

staffing, supervision, and management of FCO and administrative employees employed at FCI 

Beckley and/or FCI McDowell, including but not limited to the lack of properly certified, 

educated and trained supervisory, management or administrative personnel, specifically the lack 

of properly trained FCO’s on staff to properly prepare protocols, policies plans and guidelines to 

treat and care for the needs of LGBTI detainees that identify themselves as being female and live 

and appear as female despite being born male. These policies include, but are not limited to, 

dining hall arrangements for separate and safe eating accommodations; housing arrangements to 

avoid instances of rape or sexual assault; reasonable restrictions on incidental, non-sexual 

contact, availability of specialized personal hygiene and feminine grooming products and other 

policies and protocols to protect and avoid disregard of the rights, equal treatment and well-being 

of LGBTI detainees such as Plaintiff Leibelson. These policies, procedures, or omissions 

deprived Leibelson of Plaintiff’s equal protection and Eighth Amendment rights and federal civil 
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rights.  

87. Defendants denied Plaintiff’s rights guaranteed by the Fifth and Eighth Amendments to 

the United States Constitution, and 42 U.S.C. §1985 (3) as manifested in part by their 

mistreatment, physical and sexual abuse and complete and willful disregard and deliberate 

indifference to Plaintiff’s serious medical and personal needs because of Plaintiff’s transgender 

status and self-identification as a female. 

88.  Plaintiff has been harmed by Defendants’ violations in such amount as shall be proved at 

trial.   

COUNT V 

FREE EXERCISE CLAUSE, RELIGIOUS FREEDOM RESTORATION ACT 

42 U.S.C. §2000bb, et seq. 

(Against All Defendants) 

89. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 

1-88 above as though fully set forth herein. 

90. Defendants have violated Plaintiff’s rights under the Free Exercise Clause of the First 

Amendment and Religious Freedom Restoration Act by denying Plaintiff access to the Chapel 

and to Christian Bible studies substantially or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status. 

91. Defendants have denied or unlawfully abridged or substantially burdened Plaintiff’s 

religious freedoms and right to exercise of his religion beliefs guaranteed by the Religious 

Freedom Restoration Act (“RFRA”), 42 U.S.C. §2000bb, et seq.,  

92. Plaintiff was injured and suffered damages as a direct and proximate result of 

Defendants’ denial of his free exercise of religion and the burdening of his religious freedoms, 

all of which occurred in substantial part or solely because of Plaintiff’s transgender status. 

93. The conduct of these Defendants was the proximate cause of injuries suffered by Plaintiff 
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in an amount to be proved at trial. 

COUNT VI 

GROSS NEGLIGENCE 

West Virginia Common Law  

(Against All Defendants) 

94. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 

1-93 above as though fully set forth herein. 

95. Defendants owed a manifest duty to Plaintiff Leibelson, an incarcerated inmate subject to 

their custody and control, to provide reasonable care, including safe housing, safe dining 

facilities and generally safety of his person, psychological well-being and to safeguard Plaintiff 

from sadistic and predatory actions of BOP employees. 

96. Defendants subjectively knew that Plaintiff Leibelson is an LGBTI person that identifies 

himself as being female, both through his prior SENTRY database entry and from Defendants’ 

interactions with Plaintiff.  Despite this knowledge, Defendants breached their duty of care.  

Defendants acted with reckless indifference and/or willful disregard for their duty to provide for 

Leibelson’s health and safety.  Defendants denied Leibelson the care, security, respect and 

safeguards Plaintiff’s transgender status demanded. Defendants knew of their legal shortcomings 

and knew of Leibelson’s special needs and vulnerabilities. 

97. Defendants further knew that FCI Beckley and FCI McDowell were inadequately 

designed, staffed and operated to provide adequate care, safety and shelter to Leibelson. 

Defendants deliberately disregarded the necessary training, supervision, staffing and monitoring 

required by the Constitution, statutory, and common law imperative to protect transgender 

inmates housed in an all-male correctional facility, including Plaintiff, from serious medical or 

personal injury. 
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98. The conduct of Defendants was intentional; or, alternatively, was grossly negligent under 

the common law of the State of West Virginia. 

99. The unlawful conduct of Defendants was the proximate cause of the injuries suffered by 

Leibelson in an amount as shall be proved at trial.   

COUNT VII 

NEGLIGENCE 

West Virginia Common Law  

(Against All Defendants) 

100. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 

1-99 above as though fully set forth herein. 

101. Defendants owed a manifest duty to Plaintiff Leibelson, an incarcerated inmate subject to 

their custody and control, to provide reasonable care, including safe housing, safe dining 

facilities and generally safety of his person, psychological well-being and to safeguard Plaintiff 

from the actions of, inter alia, BOP employees. 

102. Defendants subjectively knew that Plaintiff Leibelson is an LGBTI person that identifies 

himself as being female, both through his prior SENTRY database entry and from Defendants’ 

interactions with Plaintiff.   

103. Despite this knowledge, Defendants breached their duty of care to Plaintiff.   

104. Defendants acted with reckless indifference and/or willful disregard for their duty to 

provide for Leibelson’s health and safety.  Defendants denied Leibelson the care, security, 

respect and safeguards Plaintiff’s transgender status demanded. Defendants knew of their legal 

shortcomings and knew of Leibelson’s special needs and vulnerabilities. 

105. Defendants deliberately disregarded the necessary training, supervision, staffing and 

monitoring required by the Constitution, statutory, and common law imperative to protect 
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transgender inmates housed in an all-male correctional facility, including Plaintiff, from serious 

medical or personal injury. 

106. The conduct of Defendants was intentional and negligent under the common law of the 

State of West Virginia. 

107. The negligent conduct of Defendants was the proximate cause of the injuries suffered by 

Leibelson in an amount as shall be proved at trial.   

COUNT VIII 

INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS 

West Virginia Common Law 

(Against All Defendants) 

 

108. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 

1-106 above as though fully set forth herein. 

109. Defendants’ conduct through their agents and representatives was intentional or reckless.  

Defendant intended to inflict severe emotional distress on Plaintiff knowing that their conduct 

would succeed, which it did.  

110. Furthermore, Defendants gave their agents and employees implied authority to engage in 

this conduct by permitting its continuation and, indeed, ratified the wrongful behavior by failing 

to sanction the same.  

111. Defendants’ treatment of Leibelson, particularly after he repeatedly requested medical 

attention and informed them of his extreme pain, was malicious, willful and wanton, and evinced 

a conscious disregard for the rights and human dignity of Plaintiff.  This conduct by Defendants 

was actuated with malice, spite and ill will. 

112. In addition, as a direct result of the maltreatment of Plaintiff by Defendants, Plaintiff 
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Leibelson has suffered, and continues to suffer, severe physical and emotional distress. 

113. Defendants’ conduct was outrageous and intolerable in that it offends generally accepted 

standards of decency and morality. 

114. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff has suffered and 

continues to suffer severe physical and emotional distress, including anxiety, fear of death, 

mental anguish, and loss of enjoyment of life, as well as past and future loss of income and 

benefits of employment, medical expenses, other past pecuniary losses, future pecuniary losses 

and other nonpecuniary losses. 

115. Due to the severity of Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff Leibelson is entitled to punitive or 

exemplary damages. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff demands a jury trial on all issues to which he is so entitled.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff BENJAMIN LEIBELSON respectfully requests this Court 

provide an Order for the following relief:  

(1) That the Court determine and enter judgment declaring that the acts and omissions of the 

Defendants, as set forth above, violate rights secured to Plaintiff by the First, Fifth, Eighth and 

Ninth Amendments to the United States Constitution, 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3), 42 U.S.C. §15601, et 

seq.,and West Virginia common law; 

(2) Award Plaintiff compensatory damages, jointly and severally as to each Defendant, in an 

amount to be determined at trial;  

(3) Award Plaintiff punitive damages as to each Defendant; 
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(4) Grant Plaintiff an award of attorney fees and legal costs reasonably incurred in this action 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988, and otherwise;  

(5) Grant Plaintiff such other and further relief which the Court deems just and proper.  

Respectfully submitted this 1st day of September, 2015. 

 

         

       _/s/ Edmund L. Wagoner____________ 

       Edmund L. Wagoner (WVSB #10605) 

       David E. Goddard (WVSB #8090) 

333 E Main Street 

Clarksburg, WV 26301 

Telephone: (304) 933-1411 

Email: 

 

s/ Bruce E. Fein, pro hac vice pending                

.Bruce Fein, Esquire 

s/ W. Bruce DelValle, pro hac vice pending                         

W. Bruce DelValle, Esquire 

Fein & DelValle PLLC 

Pro Hac Vice Application Pending 

300 New Jersey Avenue, Suite 900 

Washington, D.C. 20001 

(office) 202-465-8727   

 Email:   bruce@feinpoints.com 

   DelValle@FeinDelValle.com 

 

Counsel for Plaintiff. 
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